

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Southeast Region Inventory and Monitoring Branch I&M Branch RFP Final Report

INVENTORY, ABUNDANCE, AND HABITAT SELECTION OF CHIROPTERANS AT FELSENTHAL NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE IN SOUTHEAST ARKANSAS



Photo by: T. Porter

Prepared by: Nick Wirwa

Project ID: FY15-IM

Report Date: October, 2017



U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Southeast Region Inventory and Monitoring Branch I&M RFP Final Report

INVENTORY, ABUNDANCE, AND HABITAT SELECTION OF CHIROPTERANS AT FELSENTHAL NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE IN SOUTHEAST ARKANSAS

Principal Investigator: Tyler Porter, University of Louisiana-Monroe, 700 University Ave, Monroe, LA 71209

ABSTRACT

Chiropterans (bats) are the second largest taxonomic Order of Class Mammalia on earth, second only to rodents. Felsenthal NWR is a 65,000-acre refuge composed of three distinct habitat types: bottomland hardwood forest, cypress-tupelo swamp, and upland pine forest systems. This study was conducted from October 2015 through May 2017 to provide an inventory of bats on Felsenthal NWR, while also looking at seasonal abundance and habitat selection. Acoustic monitoring and mist netting was utilized to record bat species present throughout different habitat types in and around the refuge. All bats collected in mist nets were screened for white-nose lesions, though no signs of the disease or the fungus were observed. Ten of the eleven species documented by Connior (2010) in southern Arkansas were recorded either acoustically or via live capture. The sampling methods employed revealed habitat selection by species varied significantly.

A thesis and tabular data are provided as findings from a research project which is enclosed with this report as the final deliverable for FY15 I&M Project funding. The objective was to provide an inventory of Chiropterans present on the refuge including the northern long-eared bat. Through the graduate research project, the thesis provides additional information on Chiropteran abundance and habitat use on Felsenthal NWR.

DATA APPENDIX OR SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

Document	File Type
Thesis	.pdf
Acoustic Tabular data	.xlsx
Capture Tabular data	.xlsx

INVENTORY, ABUNDANCE, AND HABITAT SELECTION OF CHIROPTERANS AT FELSENTHAL NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE IN SOUTHEAST ARKANSAS

Tyler Joseph Porter

A thesis submitted to the graduate faculty of the College of Arts, Education, and Sciences at the University of Louisiana at Monroe in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Biology

August, 2017

Approved by:

Kim Marie Tolson, Ph.D. Committee Chair

<u>Gerald L. Zuercher, Ph.D.</u> Committee Member

M. Sean Chenoweth, Ph.D. Committee Member

© 2017 Tyler Joseph Porter ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to start out by, first and foremost, thanking my parents who have stood behind me and supported me through thick and thin since day one. This project, along with my career as a graduate student at the University of Louisiana at Monroe, would not have been possible without their love and constant support. You have always pushed and believed in me, even when I did not believe in myself. I will always love you dearly for that. I would also like to thank my extended family who showed me constant love and support throughout my life and my career as a graduate student. I have been so fortunate to have a family that is as close in a day and age when that is not common. I would also like to thank my brother, Brent Porter, and my best friend, Lucas Link, for the many long phone calls we have shared during these two years and for always keeping my spirits high.

I would like to thank my major advisor, Dr. Kim Marie Tolson, for giving me the unique opportunity to come to the University of Louisiana at Monroe and work for her as her seventh "last graduate student." She has been my guide throughout this journey, and she has always been there for wisdom and guidance through every situation along the way. My graduate career nearly ended in March 2016 when my apartment went under water, but she generously took me in and kept me "afloat." I will be eternally grateful for that. None of this would have been possible without her support.

I would also like to thank my committee member Dr. Gerald Zuercher. Dr. Zuercher was my undergraduate advisor, and he inspired me to pursue a graduate education and believed in me from day one. I would not have made it to the University of Louisiana at Monroe if it was not for his backing. He was also instrumental in many ideas for my project, data analysis, life advice, and everything in between. Thank you for seeing something in me that I may never have seen.

I need to also thank my other committee member Dr. Sean Chenoweth. Dr. Chenoweth was helpful with data analysis and creative ideas to aid to my project. He always made himself available when I needed help, and I could always count on him for a laugh or a conversation to take my mind off things before a big presentation.

I need to thank Dave Richardson for his advice and comprehensive knowledge of bats and the hours he spent in analyzing my acoustic surveys. The time and effort he put into this project was incredible, and he did so without batting an eye. I also need to thank Dr. Joydeep Bhattacharjee for his critical aid and patience with my statistical analysis. These two took a lot of weight off my shoulders during this entire process, and for that, I am extremely grateful.

I also need to thank Cody Townsend, Weston Mason, Ethan Burke, Garrett Wilkerson, and Koven Minor, who dedicated their time to help capture bats. I want to thank the staff at the South Arkansas Refuges Complex, especially Michael Stroeh and Nick Wirwa, for giving me the opportunity to work and gain valuable experience and knowledge during my graduate career. Their advice, guidance, and belief in me was critical in my development as a professional and fueling this project. I also want to thank

iii

Gypsy Hanks for her ideas and advice that helped get this project off the ground and running.

I want to lastly, and especially, thank the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service for creating and funding this project. Without the generous funding from this agency, this project would have never been possible.

ABSTRACT Tyler Joseph Porter INVENTORY, ABUNDANCE, AND HABITAT SELECTION OF CHIROPTERANS AT FELSENTHAL NATIONAL WILDLIFE REFUGE IN SOUTHEAST ARKANSAS (Major Professor: Kim Marie Tolson, Ph.D.)

Chiropterans (bats) are the second largest taxonomic Order of Class Mammalia on earth, second only to rodents. Felsenthal NWR is a 65,000-acre refuge composed of three distinct habitat types: bottomland hardwood forest, cypress-tupelo swamp, and upland pine forest systems. This study was conducted from October 2015 through May 2017 to provide an inventory of bats on Felsenthal NWR, while also looking at seasonal abundance and habitat selection. Acoustic monitoring and mist netting was utilized to record bat species present throughout different habitat types in and around the refuge. All bats collected in mist nets were screened for white-nose lesions, though no signs of the disease or the fungus were observed. Ten of the eleven species documented by Connior (2010) in southern Arkansas were recorded either acoustically or via live capture. The sampling methods employed revealed habitat selection by species varied significantly.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS	Х
INTRODUCTION AND REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	1
Introduction	1
Literature Review	6
Inventory, Monitoring, and Abundance	6
Foraging and Habitat Use	8
Acoustic Monitoring	11
Mist Netting	13
Objectives	15
MATERIALS AND METHODS	16
Study Site	16
Mobile Acoustic Monitoring	20
Passive Acoustic Monitoring	22
Mist Netting	23
Data Analysis	25
RESULTS	26
Mobile Acoustic Monitoring	26

Passive Acoustic Monitoring	37
Mist Netting	46
DISCUSSION	48
Mobile Acoustic Monitoring	48
Passive Acoustic Monitoring	50
Mist Netting	51
Management Implications	52
Conclusions	53
LITERATURE CITED	54
VITA	62

LI	ST	OF	TA	BL	ES
----	----	----	----	----	----

Table	Page
1. Bats found in the state of Arkansas and their current statuses	5
2. Biodiversity measures of mobile acoustic data	27
3. Significance of individuals relative to species	28
4. Occurrence of bat species from mobile acoustic surveys by season	30
5. Occurrence of bat species from mobile acoustic surveys with phase of the moon	32
6. Occurrence of bat species from mobile acoustic surveys by habitat	33
7. Significance of habitat type to individuals	34
8. Maximum likelihood estimates of habitats and the species found within them from mobile acoustic surveys	35
9. Significance of individuals relative to species from PAM data	39
10. Significance between species and habitat of PAM data	41
11. Maximum likelihood estimates of habitats and the species found within them from PAM surveys	42
12. ANOVA showing significance of time of night and individual bats detected	45
13. Results of mist netting surveys	47

Figure	Page
1. Felsenthal NWR and surrounding area	17
2. South Arkansas Refuge Complex: Felsenthal NWR, Overflow NWR, and Pond Creek NWR	18
3. Felsenthal NWR with habitat characteristics	19
4. Anabat SD 2 unit interface with settings	21
5. Felsenthal NWR with sampling locations and transects	23
6. Summary of bat species from mobile acoustic surveys	27
7. Distribution of individuals among bat species with 95% confidence intervals	28
8. Seasonality of bat species from mobile acoustic surveys and ANOVA test results showing no interaction among variables	29
 Distribution of individuals from mobile acoustic surveys by habitat type with 95% confidence intervals 	34
10. Summary of bat calls from passive acoustic surveys	38
11. Distribution of individuals among bat species from PAM data	39
12. Distribution of bats among habitat type from PAM data	40
13. Summary of bat activity over nighttime hours from PAM data	44

LIST OF FIGURES

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

°C	degrees Celsius
AM	acoustic monitoring
ANOVA	analysis of variance
BLH	bottomland hardwood
cm	centimeters
СТВ	cypress-tupelo bottom
FNWR	Felsenthal National Wildlife Refuge
g	gram
GIS	Geographic Information Systems
GPS	global positioning system
ha	hectares
km	kilometers
kph	kilometers per hour
m	meters
MABM	mobile acoustic bat monitoring
mm	millimeter
NWR	National Wildlife Refuge
PAM	passive acoustic monitoring
PAM Pd	passive acoustic monitoring Pseudogymnoascus destructans
PAM Pd USFWS	passive acoustic monitoring <i>Pseudogymnoascus destructans</i> United States Fish and Wildlife Service
PAM Pd USFWS WGCP	passive acoustic monitoring <i>Pseudogymnoascus destructans</i> United States Fish and Wildlife Service Western Gulf Coastal Plain

INTRODUCTION AND REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Introduction

The order Chiroptera (bats) represents the second largest mammalian order in regards to species number behind only Order Rodentia (rodents), consisting of 18 families, 192 genera, and over 1,300 species worldwide (Linzey 2001; Trani et al. 2007). Bats are cosmopolitan in their distribution, being absent only in polar regions and some oceanic islands. They fill a wide variety of ecological niches and have extensive taxonomic and functional diversity which makes them well suited as bioindicators for large-scale ecosystem health (Patterson et al. 2003, Simmons and Conway 2003). Many bats act as pollinators for plants, dispersal agents of seeds, predators of night-flying insects, and as prey for higher-level carnivores, as well (Findley 1993).

Around the world, bats act as voracious predators of nocturnal insects, including many crop and forest pests which may act as disease vectors to humans (Whitaker 1988). In the continental United States, there are 47 species of bats, representing four families and 19 genera which account for less than 5% of species worldwide. Bats are the only major predators of night-flying insects, and nearly all of the species in the United States are exclusively insectivores (Harvey et al. 2011). It is estimated that bats eat roughly half of their body mass or more in nocturnal insects (4-8 g) every night, and nursing females may eat up to their full body mass or more (8-16 g). Current estimates value bats saving the agricultural and farming industry in the United States anywhere from \$3.7 to \$53 billion per year in insect control (Boyles et al. 2011). Bats can travel long distances

(several km per night) from roosting sites to foraging grounds which allows them the potential to suppress nocturnal insect populations and transport nutrients across a broad landscape (Pierson and Rainey 1998).

White-nose Syndrome (WNS) of bats, caused by a psychrophilic fungus known as Pseudogymnoascus destructans (Pd) (formerly Geomyces destructans), has decimated populations of insectivorous bats in eastern North America since its 2006 discovery in east-central New York (Minnis and Lindner 2013). WNS has been characterized as a condition of bats in hibernation and was named for the visually striking white fungal growth on muzzles, ears, and/or wing membranes of affected bats (Blehert et al. 2008). WNS initiates a cascade of physiologic disturbances after epidermal invasion of the skin which increases metabolic rate and decreases the bats ability to excrete carbon dioxide which leads to water and electrolyte loss and energy use during winter months (Verant et al. 2014). In turn, Pd affects bats by increasing the frequencies of arousal from the torpor of hibernation and directly alters their ability to survive during the winter months. Bats with this fungal infection exhaust their supply of stored energy long before the end of winter which causes them to starve due to lack of insect prey in mid-winter (Fenton 2012). Histological examination of infected bats shows that the fungus pervades the bats' tissues filling hair follicles and sebaceous glands. Yet, the fungus does not typically lead to inflammation or an immune response in the tissue of the hibernating bats. This factor makes it easy to transfer, hard to detect, and incredibly deadly (Meteyer et al. 2009). As of 2012, WNS has been estimated to have killed 5.7-6.7 million bats in the United States, with some estimates being higher (Froschauer and Coleman 2012).

Presently, seven bat species have been diagnosed with WNS, three of which are classified as Federally Endangered or Threatened: Big Brown Bat (Eptesicus fuscus; EPFU), Eastern Small-footed Myotis (Myotis leibii; MYLE), Gray Bat (Myotis grisescens; MYGR) (endangered), Little Brown Bat (Myotis lucifugus, MYLU), Indiana Bat (*Myotis sodalis*; MYSO) (endangered), Northern Long-eared Bat (*Myotis* septentrionalis; MYSE) (threatened), and Tri-colored Bat (Perimyotis subflavus, PESU). Five other species have been found to contain Pd, but have yet to develop the disease: Eastern Red Bat (Lasiurus borealiu;, LABO), Rafinesque's Big-eared Bat (Corynorhinus rafinesquii; CORA), Southeastern Myotis (Myotis austroriparius; MYAU), Silver-haired Bat (Lasionycteris noctivagans; LANO), and Townsend's Big-eared Bat (Corynorhinus townsendii virginianus; COTO) (Blehert et al. 2008; Bat Conservation International 2014). Each of these 12 species, along with four other species - Brazilian Free-tailed Bat (Tadarida brasiliensis; TABR), Evening Bat (Nycticeius humeralis; NYHU), Hoary Bat (Lasiurus cinerus; LACI), and Seminole Bat (Lasiurus seminolus; LASE) - are found within the southeastern U.S. and the state of Arkansas (Connier 2010; Harvey et al. 2011).

The Western Gulf Coastal Plain (WGCP) is a 16 million hectare² geographic region falling within the states of Arkansas, Louisiana, Oklahoma, and Texas (Connor and Dickson 1997). Stroud and Hanson (1981) classified this region as a historically mixed-longleaf and shortleaf pine-dominated landmass with bottomland hardwood forests (BLH) in the region's floodplains. But, the WGCP is currently an area rich in agriculture, crude oil, natural gas, and logging timber worth billions of dollars that employees thousands of local residents (Connor and Dickson 1997). The WGCP harbors

some of the most species-rich plant and animal communities in North America which has led it to be a major focus for research and conservation efforts (The Nature Conservancy 2003; Noss et al. 2015). Although the WGCP is heavily forested, it has been fragmented and dissected by logging practices, roads, pastures, cities, and reservoirs which have led to reduced forest productivity and natural diversity and abundance among aquatic and terrestrial species, including bats (USFWS 2009).

McPeake et al. (2012) identified 16 native and migratory bat species within the state of Arkansas, eleven of which have been documented within the southeastern part of the state (Baker and Ward 1967; Connior 2010) (Table 1). The Arkansas Game and Fish Commission lists five of these species as "vulnerable" within the state due to WNS and habitat degradation: Rafinesque's Big-eared Bat, Hoary bat, Silver-haired Bat, Seminole Bat, and Southeastern Myotis (Connior 2010). Southern Arkansas has few caves, but it is believed that tree cavities and road culverts that exemplify the same temperature and humidity characteristics as caves that hold migratory and native bats may be possible vectors for Pd and the development of WNS during winter months (Reynolds and Barton 2014; Russell et al. 2015). Performing monthly abundance measures of Chiropterans in areas that are at-risk, and areas affected by WNS and habitat degradation, could lead to better conservation protocols to protect bat populations at national and regional levels.

Table 1 Bats found in the state of Arkansas and their current statuses. Highlighted species have been documented in southern Arkansas. (Baker and Ward 1967; Connior 2010; McPeake et al. 2012)

Species Common Nam		IUCN Status	USFWS T&E	State of Arkansas	
Commorhinus	Pafinasqua's Pig	Joset	Status	Status	
rafinesquii	eared bat	Concern	Not Listed	Vulnerable (S3)	
Corynorhinus townsendii	Townsend's Big- eared Bat	Least Concern	Endangered	Critically imperiled (S1)	
Eptesicus fuscus	Big Brown Bat	Least Concern	Not Listed	Common (S4)	
Lasionycteris noctivagans	Silver-haired Bat	Least Concern	Not Listed	Vulnerable (S3)	
Lasiurus borealis	Eastern Red Bat	Least Concern	Not Listed	Common (S4)	
Lasiurus cinereus	Hoary Bat	Least Concern	Not Listed	Vulnerable (S3)	
Lasiurus seminolus	Seminole Bat	Least Concern	Not Listed	Vulnerable (S3)	
Myotis austroriparius	Southeastern Bat	Least Concern	Not Listed	Vulnerable (S3)	
Myotis grisescens	Gray Bat	Near Threatened	Endangered	Endangered (S2S3)	
Myotis leibii	Small-footed Myotis	Least Concern	Not Listed	Critically imperiled (S1)	
Myotis lucifugus	Little Brown Bat	Least Concern	Not Listed	Vulnerable (S3)	
Myotis septentrionalis	Northern Long- eared Bat	Least Concern	Threatened	Common (S4)	
Myotis. sodalis	Indiana Bat	Endangered	Endangered	Endangered (S1)	
Nycticeius humeralis	Evening Bat	Least Concern	Not Listed	Common (S4)	
Perimyotis subflavus	Tri-colored Bat	Least Concern	Not Listed	Common (S4)	
Tadarida brasiliensis	Brazillian Free- tailed Bat	Least Concern	Not Listed	Common (S4)	

Literature Review

Inventory, Monitoring, and Abundance

Inventory and monitoring (I & M) procedures are some of the most frequently conducted wildlife studies and are considered cornerstones in the management of natural and wildlife resources. The overall purpose of I & M efforts is to develop scientifically sound information on the current status and long-term trends in the composition, the structure, and the function of ecosystems and the species that inhabit them, while also determining how well current management practices are sustaining those ecosystems (Morrison et al. 2008; Fancy et al. 2009). Due to the declining population of bats in North America, natural resource agencies and academic institutions have employed I & M efforts annually to provide baseline information on bats at local and regional levels to establish such information for wildlife managers and policymakers (O'Shea and Bogan 2003; Loeb et al. 2015). Flaquer et al. (2007) noted that in the past, assessing the distribution and abundance of bats was difficult because of the technological barriers and the natural tendencies of bats: nocturnal behavior, large home ranges, and erratic aerial movement. Thus, a paucity of large-scale spatial data has been collected. In order for large-scale conservation planning of bats, it is critical to know the abundance of bats in different geographic locations and habitats. This type of information would result in the understanding of current populations and their trends over time (Ford et al. 2005). Loeb et al. (2015) stated that an efficient bat monitoring program would: (1) document the impact of stressors on populations, (2) identify priority species for conservations efforts and, maybe most importantly, (3) measure agencies' effectiveness in conservation and management to lessen stressors. Studies have been conducted with similar goals to

achieve and expand on the premises established by Loeb et al. (2015) and their methods used. Both MacSwiney et al. (2008) and Furey et al. (2009) found that they increased inventory completeness using acoustic monitoring in addition to live capture efforts, which increased species richness of bats by nearly 30% at their study site. Many scientific studies of bats have inventory, monitoring, or both as one of their primary objectives since so little is known regarding their distribution and abundance (Seidman and Zabel 2001; Weller 2008; Meyer et al. 2010; Ethier and Fahrig 2011). Additionally, Meyer et al. (2010) stated that in order for I & M efforts to be accurate in depicting longterm trends of bat populations, studies would need to be extensive and long-lived, spanning decades and more. Thus, urgency in developing scientifically sound I & M efforts should be high-priority, extensively-funded, and long-lasting programs for agencies interested in bat conservation.

Animal abundance measures, the number of individuals found per sample (incidence), are a key parameter within I & M efforts that can be used as absolute or relative representations of a species in a particular ecosystem (Wright 1991; Magurran 2004). The simplest methods of estimating abundance of species are typically based on counting individuals or their signs through transects or quadrants, while more complex methods may delve into capture-recapture and/or radio telemetry efforts. Methods of measuring abundance depends on whether the species is in an "open" or "closed" system. (Schwarz and Seber 1999).

Methods for estimation of absolute abundance of bats from acoustical data have yet to be developed, but the number of calls per species along mobile transects can be used as an index of abundance (Loeb et al. 2015). Attempts to estimate bat abundance in

the United States have relied heavily on use of indices at small, local sites through echolocation detectors and live capture. It is important for collecting efforts to be distributed throughout the year, but it is applicable to confine efforts to the season in which abundance peaks in some areas (Moreno and Haffter 2000). These efforts have documented dramatic changes in bat abundance and clear-cut causes that provided strong evidence for population gains and declines, however, shortcomings of those methods must be fully acknowledged (Anderson 2001; O'Shea and Bogan 2003). Knowing the relative number of individuals in an ecosystem is a crucial parameter that needs to be addressed before intense study and critical management decisions can be made (Magurran 2004).

Foraging and Habitat Use

Bats have long been identified as good indicators of the integrity of natural communities because they occupy a vast number of ecosystems, habitats, and ecological niches (e.g. roosting, watering, and feeding habits) (Hutson et al. 2001). However, current knowledge of foraging practices and habitat selection across widespread spatial scales are very limited for bat species. This creates a problem for those looking to effectively manage for Chiropterans. Ecological factors such as productivity, habitat diversity, and area of available habitat influence the structure of bat communities (Findley 1993). Wildlife and management practices may have profound effects on habitat, diversity, and abundance of bats in localized communities, thus making understanding of this subject of highest priority (Williams et al. 2006). Additionally, estimations of habitat preference and activity in those habitats for different bat species are

of great importance when planning conservation efforts. (Ethier and Fahrig 2011; Palmqvist 2014).

Trani et al. (2007) recognized eleven species of bats that had ranges occurring within southern Arkansas, representing two families and eight genera. These species share the same ecosystem but maintain their own respective ecologic niches (Trani et al. 2007; Boyles et al. 2011). Many species have known roosting and foraging site preferences, but shared inhabitance and diet within communities may influence or even alter their behavior at localized levels (Kunz 1973; Findley 1993; Arlettaz et al. 1997). Within forested systems, bats utilize a variety of structures for diurnal roosts, including tree foliage, exfoliating bark, cracks or crevices in trees, and internal cavities of natural and anthropogenic structures (Brigham 2007).

Rafinesque's Big-eared Bat and Southeastern Myotis are two species within the southeast that exhibit interspecific, communal roosting habits throughout the year and, often, the same foraging grounds. Southeastern Myotis are known to fly relatively great distances directly from roost sites to foraging grounds, usually near or above water. Rafinesque's Big-eared Bat emerge later in the evening and forage in bottomland forests and sloughs (Reid 2006; Harvey et al. 2011). Due to habitat loss from logging and agriculture practices throughout most their range, these species are considered "at risk," and efforts are being implemented to try and conserve the two species but little about their ecology is known. (Reid 2006; Carver and Ashley 2008; Trousdale 2011).

Other bat species that are considered foliage roosters and, sometimes cave roosters (where available), are the Big Brown Bat, the Eastern Red Bat, the Evening Bat, the Seminole Bat, and the Tri-colored Bat. These species are known to emerge shortly

after dusk and forage on prey in open fields, edge communities, above vegetation canopy, and above water sources. These bats tend to occupy a variety of habitats, ranging from wet, deciduous timber stands to dry, coniferous forests across low-lying to moderate elevations in the United States (Reid 2006). Brooks and Ford (2005) demonstrated that bat species may choose foraging grounds based on relative body size due to weather conditions, nocturnal predators, and interspecific competition for insect prey. Although these bats share feeding habits that are relatively consistent with each other, many of these bats forage at different heights relative to the ground and forest canopy, which allows for coexistence and little infringement when resources are hearty (Menzel et al. 2005).

Silver-haired Bats and Hoary Bats are two other species that are occur concurrently in southern Arkansas and share similar foraging as species listed prior. But, their highly migratory nature only finds them in southern Arkansas during the colder months (Reid 2006; Connier 2010; Harvey et al. 2011). These species choose similar habitat types and foraging grounds as other "tree bats," but the manner in which they locate prey and forage differs slightly. These species, along with other "tree bats" listed prior, have different strategies of foraging in regards to flight path, flight speed, and echolocation that may alter their habitat preference for foraging practices (Barclay 1985). Although much has been learned about bats' foraging habits and the habitats they occupy, much is still unknown about their foraging ecology at localized levels throughout geographic ranges. It is safe to say, at best, that habitat preference is incredibly variable, in spatiotemporal regards, at different ecologic levels and should be studied extensively for better conservation practices (Walsh and Harris 1996; Agosta 2002).

Acoustic Monitoring

Acoustic monitoring (AM) has become a widely-utilized method of sampling in the field of wildlife conservation. Although relatively new, AM is beginning to be recognized as a potentially powerful, efficient, and non-intrusive tool in monitoring and surveillance studies since direct methods (e.g. visual observation, capture) are not always possible or practical (Miller 2001; Jones et al. 2013). AM is a dynamic means of longterm monitoring of the activity of a species and habitat use over time and space (Frick 2013). Bats are one such group whose presence or absence cannot be addressed by direct methods alone (Miller 2001). Bat acoustic detectors work by converting their ultrasonic echolocation calls to sounds that are clearly audible and identifiable to humans (Fenton 1992), which provides an outstanding means to uniquely identify, take inventory, and monitor them using direct counts or traditional estimates (USFWS 2012). Acoustic detectors and sampling methods have diverged significantly to accommodate specific research goals (Adams et al. 2012; Frick 2013). AM methodologies have been broadly categorized as either passive or active (also known as mobile) sampling. Active AM refers to surveying where the surveyor is present and able to change the orientation of the microphone relative to bats for optimal echolocation pass recording. Often times, the surveyor is moving on a mobile transect with the microphone and detector to cover a large spatial scale with multiple samples. Passive sampling refers to stationary, automatic recording without the user being present, and with the microphone fixed in a predetermined direction. Passive sampling often includes multiple sampling stations allowing sampling over wide spatial scales. This type of AM produces fewer independent

samples but allows for longer periods of data collection and less time expenditure of the user (Coleman et al. 2014).

Mobile acoustic bat monitoring (MABM), a form of active AM, has become a widely-used technique utilized to record several different parameters such as abundance, occupancy, and diversity of species (Adams et al. 2012). USFWS (2012) concluded that MABM surveys along road-based transects provided an efficient method to sample bats across large areas in a relatively short time period. Whitby et al. (2014) tested MABM techniques (road-based versus water-based) and concluded that road-based transects yielded higher diversity indices and tended to show slightly higher species density, while also being the least time consuming. MABM surveys provide user-friendly, cost-effective means of gathering biodiversity data rapidly and sustainably across large spatial areas (Jones et al. 2013).

Many studies have utilized passive acoustic monitoring (PAM) in favor of, or in conjunction with, active methodologies because of its ability to gain large datasets across greater spatial and temporal scales (Frick 2013), while also requiring a relatively lowenergy demand by the user (Coleman et al. 2014; Froidevaux et al. 2014). Coleman et al. (2014) compared PAM and MABM and found that there was no difference in species density between methods, although PAM accumulated species more quickly than their MABM efforts. Froidevaux et al. (2014) used different variations of PAM to optimize call capture while measuring activity, richness, and sampling effort. They found that it was necessary to sample across numerous microhabitats of given locations simultaneously, to generate the best outcome. Miller (2001) concluded that PAM provided an effective measure of bat activity while allowing comparisons between sites,

times, and species that MABM cannot accomplish, practically. Although AM data, alone, cannot provide accurate estimates of individuals, this has not limited the uses of AM as an effective method to estimate numbers of bats. It may provide objectives and repeatable means to assess and compare relative activity of free-flying bats from this type of data (Fenton et al. 1987).

Mist Netting

The use of mist nets is a popular method for capturing bats away from their roost site while they are airborne (Kunz and Kurta 1988; Jones et al. 1996). Mist nets work by entangling flying bats that fail to detect their fine mesh until it is too late. Mist nets, although relatively low-costing and easily-portable, have several disadvantages. Mist nets are labor intensive, can be detrimental to bat's well-being if not removed quickly, and are unable to reach and capture bats high in the canopy where they may be foraging (Jones et al. 1996; Gukasova and Vlaschenko 2011; Fenton 2012). Several factors come into play when attempting to maximize mist net success such as net placement, proximity to roost sites, proximity to water, and in conjunction to known flyways. These factors cannot always be optimized and may pose bias in relation to the representativeness of a population (Kunz & Kurta 1988). At best, mist nets provide information on flight activity only at sites where actively netted, and may provide potentially misleading data. But, multiple studies have used the data obtained for inventory, monitoring, richness, diversity, and method comparison purposes (Kunz and Brock 1975; Ford et al. 2006; Larson et al. 2007; Gukasova and Vlaschenko 2011; Trevelin et al. 2017).

Several studies have utilized mist nets, alone, to achieve certain goals and reach specific outcomes. Gukasova and Vlaschenko (2011) found that mist netting in the mid-

summer months yielded the highest capture of bats because of peak bat activity and young bats are becoming volant. They also found that there was no correlation with the duration of mist netting for each month. Trevelin et al. (2017) also relied on mist netting to find optimum sample size. These researchers found that using mist nets, alone, during the first three to six hours of the night (optimal foraging hours) could not provide a complete sample and was not representative of the community. Bergallo et al. (2003) suggested distributing mist nets across various locations was more efficient than increasing net hours at a single location to accurately measure biodiversity of bats in a system. They also suggested having at least 1000 captures when sampling with mist nets to get an accurate representation of biodiversity and overall abundance. This could prove time-consuming and inefficient for the researcher. Biodiversity assessments and conservation guidelines based on short-term mist net surveys, alone, are not sufficient or reliable in regards to bats, thus they must be coupled with other means of capture over the long-term (Gukasova and Vlaschenko 2011).

Many studies have combined mist netting with other methods to optimize representativeness and decrease bias of different measures. Kuenzi and Morrison (1998) suggested combining mist net capture with ultrasonic detection to identify the presence of bat species, since acoustic detection can sometimes be unreliable or create false-positive detections. Hill and Greenway (2005) found that playing back echolocation calls near mist nets, as an acoustic lure, demonstrated an effective method which increased capture. Everette et al. (2001) documented that relative abundance based on mist net captures was similar to that revealed by their acoustic surveys, except that the latter revealed the likely presence of at least two additional species. Combining mist netting surveys with acoustic

surveys will increase effectiveness of sampling efforts, regarding bats, and will, usually, both coincide in results (O'Farrel and Gannon 2001).

Objectives

Bat populations throughout North America have declined drastically within the past decade. This study was aimed to provide Felsenthal National Wildlife Refuge in southeast Arkansas, and surrounding lands with similar ecosystems, a better understanding of the bat species found there. The objectives of this study are as follows:

- Provide an inventory of bats found on Felsenthal National Wildlife Refuge, Arkansas.
- Measure seasonal abundance and biodiversity of bats at Felsenthal National Wildlife Refuge, Arkansas.
- Examine the preference and utilization of habitat for native bat species within and on lands surrounding the refuge using passive and mobile acoustic monitoring.
- Document the presence/absence of the fungal disease White-nose Syndrome in bat species caused by *Pseudogymnoascus destructans*.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Site

The Felsenthal National Wildlife Refuge (FNWR) is located in Ashley, Bradley, and Union counties of southeast Arkansas, about 8 km west of Crossett, Arkansas on U.S. Highway 82 (Figure 1). FNWR is one of three refuges forming an administrative complex in southern Arkansas, which also includes Pond Creek NWR to the northwest and Overflow NWR to the east (Figure 2). Established in 1975 as a mitigation for the creation of the U.S. Corps of Engineers' Ouachita and Black Rivers Navigation Project and Felsenthal Lock and Dam, FNWR was named for a small community located at its southwest corner. It occupies a low-lying area dissected by an intricate system of rivers, creeks, sloughs, buttonbush swamps and lakes throughout a vast bottomland hardwood (BLH) forest that gradually rises to an upland forest community on its peripheral boundaries. FNWR parallels both the Ouachita River and the Saline River which pours into the Ouachita River near the refuge's geographic center. Historically, periodic flooding of the BLH areas during winter and spring provides excellent wintering waterfowl habitat, and these wetlands, in combination with the pine and upland hardwood forest on the higher ridges, support a wide diversity of native plants and animals (USFWS 2010).

The FNWR consists of ~26,305 hectares (ha) of total land. The refuge is broken up into 60% of BLH (~16,187 ha), 25% open water (~6,070 ha), and 15% upland area (~4,047 ha) (Figure 3). FNWR has the world's largest greentree reservoir. The



Figure 1 Felsenthal NWR and surrounding area (USFWS 2010)



Figure 2 South Arkansas Refuge Complex: Felsenthal NWR, Overflow NWR, and PondCreek NWR (USFWS 2010)



Figure 3 Felsenthal NWR with habitat characteristics (USFWS 2010)

6,070 ha Felsenthal Pool doubles in size to 14,569 ha during winter and spring flooding (USFWS 2010).

Mobile Acoustic Monitoring

Mobile acoustic bat monitoring (MABM) was conducted from November 2015-March 2017. MABM was done in accordance with USFWS (2012). Using an Anabat SD2 Active Bat Detector (5-250 kilohertz frequency range) (Titley Scientific, Columbia, Missouri), surveys were conducted two times a month to account for species abundance and habitat preference. Echolocation calls of bats were collected and georeferenced using a roof-mounted, vertically-pointed microphone and a global positioning system (GPS) attached to the Anabat detector while traveling approximately 32 kph in a vehicle. The Anabat detector was set to the maximum sensitivity setting of 7 so as to collect all species of bats and eliminate extra noise from insects, vehicles, etc. Audio division was set to 16, the mid-level setting, to hear bats calls through the loudspeaker, and data division was set to 8 to remove extra, unwanted data points and collect more bat calls (Figure 4). Transects were nonrandom and constructed around local road infrastructure, availability, and repeatability. Length of transect was determined by road constraints with target lengths of 24 to 40 km. Bat calls were recorded to a compact flash card inside the Anabat detector and initially filtered through CFCread Storage ZCAIM Interface (version 4.4n). To standardize call classifications, only call sequences consisting of five or more pulses were analyzed, and bat calls separated by greater than one second were treated as unique. Calls were auto-classified to species using the BCID Eastern USA software package (Bat Call Identification, version 2.7). To minimalize false-positive detections, call classifications were limited to bat species with seasonal geographic range overlap consistent with Felsenthal NWR and southeast Arkansas.



Figure 4 Anabat SD 2 unit interface with settings

Species, including the Brazilian Free-tailed Bat (*Tadarida braziliensis*) and the Seminole Bat (*Lasiurus seminolus*), that are present on the refuge but do not have classifiers within the BCID software, were not accounted for acoustically due to possible false-positive detections. All surveys began at least one-half hour after sunset. Surveys were only conducted during nights when no precipitation occurred or when ambient temperatures were above 7.2°C.

Passive Acoustic Monitoring

Passive acoustic bat monitoring (PAM) was conducted from November 2016-March 2017. Anabat detector sensitivity settings for PABM were consistent with the MABM protocol. Four Anabat SD2 Active Bat Detectors and two Anabat Express Passive Detectors (Titley Scientific, Columbia, Missouri) were utilized for this portion of the study to characterize bat species preference and utilization of habitats on the refuge. These habitats were upland pine forest, bottomland hardwood forest, and cypress-tupelo bottoms. A pseudo-random selection approach was implemented to select Anabat detector placement locations within pre-described habitat areas using ArcGIS (ArcMap, version 10.3.1). Locations were chosen from random GPS coordinates that were generated to place Anabat detectors in prime locations that were not submerged in water or beneath excessive mid-story vegetation. The six Anabat detectors were placed among the three habitat types classified on the refuge (two Anabat detectors per habitat type). Anabat SD2 detectors were placed inside weather-proof, custom holding-boxes mounted on t-posts. The Anabat Express detectors and their microphones were mounted to trees. All units were mounted approximately 2 m from the ground. The Anabat units' internal
clocks were pre-programmed using CFCread, and data collection occurred from one half hour before sunset to one half hour after sunrise.

Mist Netting

Mist nets were utilized from October 2015 through May 2017 as another means to determine bat species present upon the refuge and confirm echolocation calls from the acoustic data. Mist netting occurred one to three times monthly during this time period when ambient air temperatures were greater than 7°C. Sampling started 15 minutes after sunset and lasted approximately two to four hours per survey. Sites and net placement were selected where a high level of bat activity was expected, and to account for factors that would increase capture rates including: accessibility, habitat type, forest canopy, travel corridors, and lentic or lotic water systems (Figure 5) (Gardner et al. 1989). Three to four polyester mist nets (38 mm mesh) (Avinet, Freeville, New York) were deployed per night with net width ranging from 6 m to 12 m. When applicable, nets were stacked to cover an entire flyway and increase capture rates (Jones et al. 1996). Nets ranged from 2.6 m to 7.8 m high when stacked. Data were recorded for all bats captured including: species, sex, age (adult or juvenile), forearm length (mm), ear length (mm), and thumb length (mm). The protocol described by the American Society of Mammalogists was followed for the handling of all bats that were captured during this study (Sikes et al. 2016). All bats captured were screened for White-nose syndrome using a 250 nanometer (nm) LED flashlight to check for wing and facial lesions. Mist nets, equipment, and clothing worn were decontaminated after every survey in accordance with USFWS (2016). Mist nets and processing bags were decontaminated using isopropanol (60% or greater) by submerging them for a minimum of one minute. Equipment was sterilized

using Clorox® wipes after each use. All clothing was washed immediately after each survey using hot water and liquid detergent.



Figure 5 Felsenthal NWR with sampling locations and transects. Red lines = mobile acoustic routes, white flags = passive acoustic monitoring locations, orange balloons = mist-netting locations.

Data Analysis

All geospatial analysis was done in ArcMap 10.3 (ESRI 2009). Both MABM and PAM surveys were downloaded using CFCread Storage ZCAIM Interface and run through BCID program and transformed into call files to be uploaded to Arcmap. To evaluate habitat preference and geospatial location, call files were transposed onto satellite imagery of FNWR to be classified and grouped.

All data were analyzed using SAS 9.3 (SAS Institute Inc. 2017) and Microsoft Excel 2013 (Microsoft Corporation 2017). Richness, evenness, and diversity measurements for MABM and mist netting surveys were calculated using Microsoft Excel. MABM survey data were generated using number of individuals, species, habitat type, season, moon phase. Analysis of variance tests (ANOVA) were run to determine significance among parameters, and all were taken into consideration to answer research questions. A Proc GenMod was run to find significance among each species and the habitat types of FNWR and its peripheral lands. PAM surveys were analyzed using SAS 9.3 to determine habitat selection and activity by nighttime hours. This data set was generated using number of individuals, species, habitat type, and time. ANOVA tests were run to determine significance among these parameters as well. A Proc GenMod was conducted to find significance among each species and the habitat types of FNWR. A p value ≤ 0.05 was used to determine significance for all analyses.

RESULTS

Mobile Acoustic Monitoring

Thirty-four mobile acoustic surveys were conducted between November 2015 and April 2017, and a total of 919 individuals were collected and classified. Eight species were captured (Richness = 8) from the collected data, and a category of "unknown" was created for unidentifiable calls. Proportion of bats varied greatly: Evening Bat (31.01%), Tri-colored Bat (28.84%), and Eastern Red Bat (21.33%) were the most abundant, while all other species made up less than 25% of the sample. Other species included Big Brown Bat (7.94%), Hoary Bat (1.74%), Silver-haired Bat (5.88%), Southeastern Myotis (<1%), Northern Long-eared Myotis (<1%), and unknown species (2.29%) (Figure 6).

Of the biodiversity measures that were calculated, the Simpson's Diversity Index (0.7654) revealed moderately-high diversity among the sample. The calculated evenness value (0.4719) revealed a moderate evenness among the sample (Table 2)

An ANOVA test showed that there was significance among the number of individuals of each species found within the study area ($F_{8,36} = 5.30$, p = 0.0002) with significant values for the Eastern Red Bat, Evening Bat, and Tri-colored Bat (Table 3; Figure 7). An ANOVA was run to test for interaction of species by season and no significance was found ($F_{3,32} = 1.24$, p = 0.279), but the overall majority of bat activity (73%) was significantly greater during the spring and summer months (Figure 8; Table 4). A separate ANOVA found significance between moon phase and bat activity ($F_{5,48} =$



Figure 6 Summary of bat species from mobile acoustic surveys

Table 2 Biodiversity measures of mobile acoustic data

Spp	Ν	Ρ^	P^2	Evenness	Ni(Ni-1)	N(N-1)	Ni(Ni-1)/N(N-1)	Diversity
EPFU	73	0.07943	0.00631	0.47186	5256	8.436E+05	0.00623	0.76536
LABO	196	0.21328	0.04549		38220	8.436E+05	0.04530	
LACI	16	0.01741	0.00030		240	8.436E+05	0.00028	
LANO	54	0.05876	0.00345		2862	8.436E+05	0.00339	
MYAU	8	0.00871	0.00008		56	8.436E+05	0.00007	
MYSE	1	0.00109	0.00000		0	8.436E+05	0.00000	
NYHU	285	0.31012	0.09617		80940	8.436E+05	0.09594	
PESU	265	0.28836	0.08315		69960	8.436E+05	0.08293	
UNKN	21	0.02285	0.00052		420	8.436E+05	0.00050	
	919		4.24674				0.23464	

Parameter	Estimate		Standard Error	t Value	Pr > t
Intercept	4.20000000	в	9.95556796	0.42	0.6756
Species EPFU	10.4000000	в	14.07929922	0.74	0.4649
Species LABO	35.0000000	в	14.07929922	2.49	0.0177
Species LACI	-1.00000000	в	14.07929922	-0.07	0.9438
Species LANO	6.60000000	в	14.07929922	0.47	0.6421
Species MYAU	-2.60000000	в	14.07929922	-0.18	0.8545
Species MYSE	-4.00000000	в	14.07929922	-0.28	0.7780
Species NYHU	52.80000000	в	14.07929922	3.75	0.0006
Species PESU	48.80000000	в	14.07929922	3.47	0.0014
Species UNKN	0.00000000	в			

Table 3 Significance of individuals relative to species from MABM data



Figure 7 Distribution of individuals among bat species with 95% confidence intervals



Figure 8 Seasonality of bat species from mobile acoustic surveys and ANOVA test results showing no interaction (y - axis = number of individuals)

Table 4 Occurrence of bat species from mobile acoustic surveys by season. Fall = September-November; Spring = March-May; Summer = June-August; Winter = December-February

BY SEASON						
	Fall	Spring	Summer	Winter		
EPFU	7	31	21	14		
LABO	12	66	88	30		
LACI	0	8	2	6		
LANO	9	29	1	15		
MYAU	1	3	1	3		
MYSE	0	0	1	0		
NYHU	23	124	94	44		
PESU	39	35	159	32		
UNKN	4	6	2	9		
Totals	95	302	369	153		
SUMMARY						
Groups	Count	Sum	Average	Variance		
Fall	9	95	10.5556	167.27778		
Spring	9	302	33.5556	1591.7778		
Summer	9	369	41	3398		
Winter	9	153	17	225.75		
ANOVA						
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	5406.5278	3	1802.1759	1.3392	0.2790	2.9011
Within Groups	43062.4444	32	1345.7014			
Total	48468.9722	35				

2.89, p = 0.02; Table 5), with more detections occurring during the new, first quarter moon, and half-moon stages.

An ANOVA was run to test for interaction between individual occurrences of bats by habitat type and no significant difference was found ($F_{4,40} = 2.52$, p = 0.056; Table 6). Although, CTB and open field habitats showed significance among the individuals (Table 7; Figure 9). No interaction among individuals was found. A PROC GENMOD was run in SAS 9.3, and the maximum likelihood estimate found significance among many species and the habitat types where they were likely to be detected (Table 8). Thirty-one out of the 40 maximum likelihood estimates were significant.

BY MOON PHASE						
	New	First- Quarter	Half	Third- Quarter	Full	
EPFU	16	21	19	14	3	
LABO	27	52	90	26	1	
LACI	4	3	3	6	0	
LANO	24	23	4	2	1	
MYAU	0	5	2	0	1	
MYSE	0	0	1	0	0	
NYHU	65	63	109	44	4	
PESU	29	52	143	35	6	
UNKN	3	10	2	5	1	
Totals	168	229	373	132	17	
SUMMARY						
Groups	Count	Sum	Average	Variance		
New	9	168	18.67	439.50		
First-Quarter	9	229	25.44	581.78		
Half	9	373	41.44	3170.78		
Third-Quarter	9	132	14.67	270.25		
Full	9	16	1.78	4.44		
ANOVA						
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	10746.09	5.00	2149.22	2.89	0.02	2.41
Within Groups	35734.89	48.00	744.48			

Table 5 Occurrence of bat species from mobile acoustic surveys with phase of the moon

Table 6 Occurrence of bat species from mobile acoustic surveys by habitat. CTB = Cypress-tupelo bottom; BLH = Bottomland hardwood forest; UP = Upland pine Forest; MP/REF = Mixed-pine reforested area; OF/LOG = Open field/ Logged area

BY HABITAT]					
	СТВ	BLH	UP	MP/RF	OF/LOG	
EPFU	1	19	39	10	4	
LABO	3	48	64	66	15	
LACI	0	6	6	2	2	
LANO	3	10	27	11	3	
MYAU	0	2	2	2	2	
MYSE	0	0	1	0	0	
NYHU	9	78	84	87	27	
PESU	9	51	90	105	10	
UNKN	0	5	5	9	2	
Totals	25	219	318	292	65	
SUMMARY						
Habitat	Count	Sum	Average	Variance		
СТВ	9	25	2.8	13.9		
BLH	9	219	24.3	773.3		
UP	9	318	35.3	1291.5		
MP/RF	9	292	32.4	1723.3		
OF/LOG	9	65	7.2	77.7		
ANOVA						
Source of Variation	SS	df	MS	F	P-value	F crit
Between Groups	7809.644	4	1952.41	2.52	0.056	2.6
Within Groups	31037.33	40	775.93			
Total	38846.98	44				

Table 7	Significance	of habitat	type to	individuals
	0		21	

Parameter	Estimate		Standard Error	t Value	$\Pr > t $
Intercept	35.33333333	в	9.28519331	3.81	0.0005
Habitat Bottomla	-11.00000000	в	13.13124631	-0.84	0.4072
Habitat Cypress-	-32.55555556	в	13.13124631	-2.48	0.0175
Habitat Mixed Pi	-2.88888889	в	13.13124631	-0.22	0.8270
Habitat Open Fie	-28.11111111	в	13.13124631	-2.14	0.0384
Habitat Upland P	0.0000000	в			



Figure 9 Distribution of individuals from mobile acoustic surveys by habitat type with 95% confidence intervals

Habitat*Species Least Squares Means									
Habitat	Species	Estimate	Standard Error	z Value	Pr > z				
BLH	EPFU	19	1	19	<.0001				
BLH	LABO	48	1	48	<.0001				
BLH	LACI	6	1	6	<.0001				
BLH	LANO	10	1	10	<.0001				
BLH	MYAU	2	1	2	0.046				
BLH	MYSE	-1.07E+14	1	0	1				
BLH	NYHU	78	1	78	<.0001				
BLH	PESU	51	1	51	<.0001				
BLH	UNKN	5	1	5	<.0001				
СТВ	EPFU	1	1	1	0.317				
СТВ	LABO	3	1	3	0.003				
СТВ	LACI	1.42E-14	1	0	1				
СТВ	LANO	3	1	3	0.003				
СТВ	MYAU	7.11E-15	1	0	1				
СТВ	MYSE	-3.55E+15	1	0	1				
СТВ	NYHU	9	1	9	<.0001				
СТВ	PESU	9	1	9	<.0001				
СТВ	UNKN	0	1	0	1				
MP	EPFU	10	1	10	<.0001				
MP	LABO	66	1	66	<.0001				
MP	LACI	2	1	2	0.046				
MP	LANO	11	1	11	<.0001				
MP	MYAU	2	1	2	0.046				
MP	MYSE	-1.07E+14	1	0	1				
MP	NYHU	87	1	87	<.0001				
MP	PESU	105	1	105	<.0001				
MP	UNKN	9	1	9	<.0001				
OF/LOG	EPFU	4	1	4	<.0001				
OF/LOG	LABO	15	1	15	<.0001				

Table 8 Maximum likelihood estimates of habitats and the species found within them from mobile acoustic surveys

Table 8 (continued)

OF/LOG	LACI	2	1	2	0.046
OF/LOG	LANO	3	1	3	0.003
OF/LOG	MYAU	2	1	2	0.046
OF/LOG	MYSE	-2.13E+14	1	0	1
OF/LOG	NYHU	27	1	27	<.0001
OF/LOG	PESU	10	1	10	<.0001
UP	MYAU	2	1	2	0.046
UP	MYSE	1	1	1	0.317
UP	NYHU	84	1	84	<.0001
UP	PESU	90	1	90	<.0001
UP	UNKN	5	1	5	<.0001

Passive Acoustic Monitoring

Six Anabat units were deployed on FNWR in three different habitat types: upland pine forest, bottomland hardwood forest, and cypress-tupelo bottom. From 10 November 2016 to 24 February 2017, four different "tours" were conducted for a total of 31 nights of data collection. Tour one occurred from 10 November 2016 – 17 November 2016 with six units deployed. Tour two occurred from 12 January 2017 – 14 January 2017 with six units deployed. Tour three occurred from 23 January 2017 – 2 February 2017 with five units deployed. Tour four occurred from 16 February 2017 – 24 February 2017 with five units deployed. A total of 1,379 individual calls were collected and classified from the three habitat types; 518 calls were classified from cypress-tupelo bottom systems, 65 from bottomland hardwood systems, and 796 from upland pine systems. Number of Individual calls by species varied greatly. Eastern Bat (29.8%), Southeastern Myotis (22.7%), and Eastern Red Bat (13%) were the most abundant calls detected and represented almost two-thirds of the sample (Figure 10).

PROC GLM was utilized in SAS 9.3 for all ANOVA tests of PAM. An ANOVA of the PAM data revealed no significant difference among the number of individuals of each species ($F_{8,18} = 0.91$, p = 0.53; Table 9; Figure 11). There was no significance to distribution of individuals among the three habitat types ($F_{2,24} = 2.86$, p = 0.07; Figure 12; Table 10), and no interaction between species occurred. A PROC GENMOD was run in SAS 9.3, and the maximum likelihood estimate found significance among most species and the habitat types where they were likely to be detected (Table 11). Twenty of the 24 maximum likelihood estimates were significant.



Figure 10 Summary of bat calls from passive acoustic surveys

Parameter	Estimate		Standard Error	t Value	Pr > t
Intercept	35.0000000	в	45.54972862	0.77	0.4522
Species EPFU	-25.0000000	в	64.41704398	-0.39	0.7025
Species LABO	24.6666667	в	64.41704398	0.38	0.7063
Species LACI	-24.0000000	в	64.41704398	-0.37	0.7138
Species LANO	2.6666667	в	64.41704398	0.04	0.9674
Species MYAU	67.3333333	в	64.41704398	1.05	0.3097
Species MYSE	-19.0000000	в	64.41704398	-0.29	0.7714
Species NYHU	102.0000000	в	64.41704398	1.58	0.1307
Species PESU	16.0000000	в	64.41704398	0.25	0.8067
Species UNKN	0.0000000	в			

Table 9 Significance of individuals relative to species from PAM data



Figure 11 Distribution of individuals among bat species from PAM data





Figure 12 Distribution of bats among habitat type from PAM data (y - axis = number of individuals)

Parameter	Estimate		Standard Error	t Value	Pr > t
Intercept	72.3703704	в	45.63405237	1.59	0.1323
Habitat Bottomla	-81.2222222	в	33.70298127	-2.41	0.0284
Habitat Cypress-	-30.8888889	в	33.70298127	-0.92	0.3730
Habitat Upland P	0.0000000	в			-
Species EPFU	-25.0000000	в	58.37527593	-0.43	0.6742
Species LABO	24.6666667	в	58.37527593	0.42	0.6782
Species LACI	-24.0000000	в	58.37527593	-0.41	0.6864
Species LANO	2.6666667	в	58.37527593	0.05	0.9641
Species MYAU	67.3333333	в	58.37527593	1.15	0.2657
Species MYSE	-19.0000000	в	58.37527593	-0.33	0.7490
Species NYHU	102.0000000	в	58.37527593	1.75	0.0997
Species PESU	16.0000000	в	58.37527593	0.27	0.7875
Species UNKN	0.0000000	в			-

Table 10 Significance between species and habitat of PAM data

Н	Habitat*Species Least Squares Means									
Habitat	Species	Estimate	Standar	z Value	Pr > z					
			d Error							
BLH	EPFU	1	1	1	0.3173					
BLH	LABO	3	1	3	0.0027					
BLH	LACI	4	1	4	<.0001					
BLH	LANO	26	1	26	<.0001					
BLH	MYAU	-1.42E-14	1	0	1					
BLH	MYSE	1	1	1	0.3173					
BLH	NYHU	26	1	26	<.0001					
BLH	PESU	0	1	0	1					
BLH	UNKN	4	1	4	<.0001					
СТВ	EPFU	7	1	7	<.0001					
СТВ	LABO	30	1	30	<.0001					
СТВ	LACI	2	1	2	0.0455					
СТВ	LANO	27	1	27	<.0001					
СТВ	MYAU	244	1	244	<.0001					
СТВ	MYSE	42	1	42	<.0001					
СТВ	NYHU	54	1	54	<.0001					
СТВ	PESU	39	1	39	<.0001					
СТВ	UNKN	73	1	73	<.0001					
UP	EPFU	22	1	22	<.0001					
UP	LABO	146	1	146	<.0001					
UP	LACI	27	1	27	<.0001					
UP	LANO	60	1	60	<.0001					
UP	MYAU	63	1	63	<.0001					
UP	MYSE	5	1	5	<.0001					
UP	NYHU	331	1	331	<.0001					
UP	PESU	114	1	114	<.0001					
UP	UNKN	28	1	28	<.0001					

Table 11 Maximum likelihood estimates of habitats and the species found within them from PAM surveys

Bat activity by time peaked at sunset and slowly declined as the night progressed (Figure 13). An ANOVA was conducted to find significance between bat activity and time of night. The ANOVA revealed there was not a significant distribution of individuals ($F_{9,90} = 1.61$, p = 0.12), but there was significance among species and their activity relative to time ($F_{12,87} = 1.61$, p = 0.0002; Figure 13). The ANOVA also revealed no relationship between species and its activity relative to time ($F_{21,78} = 3.68$, p = <0.0001; Table 12).





Figure 13 Summary of bat activity over nighttime hours from PAM data (x - axis = time, y - axis = number of individuals)

Parameter	Estimate		Standard Error	t Value	Pr > t
Intercept	1.70977538	в	8.96871532	0.19	0.8493
Hour 00:01	-2.00577805	в	10.24962840	-0.20	0.8454
Hour 01:00	-1.47197172	в	10.56648903	-0.14	0.8896
Hour 02:00	1.37500000	в	10.15224476	0.14	0.8926
Hour 03:00	0.49422195	в	10.24962840	0.05	0.9617
Hour 04:00	1.38014298	в	10.64726698	0.13	0.8972
Hour 05:00	-2.82774535	в	11.71866276	-0.24	0.8100
Hour 06:00	-8.36298400	в	12.63543428	-0.66	0.5100
Hour 18:00	49.80639752	в	9.90298636	5.03	<.0001
Hour 19:00	23.69528640	в	9.90298636	2.39	0.0191
Hour 20:00	8.02861974	в	9.90298636	0.81	0.4200
Hour 21:00	1.91750863	в	9.90298636	0.19	0.8470
Hour 22:00	-0.25577805	в	10.24962840	-0.02	0.9802
Hour 23:00	0.0000000	в		-	-
Species CORA	-2.62728401	в	22.08063717	-0.12	0.9056
Species EPFU	-11.01357743	в	10.28529733	-1.07	0.2876
Species LABO	5.76923077	в	7.96407602	0.72	0.4710
Species LACI	-7.96735302	в	9.29442553	-0.86	0.3940
Species LANO	0.74807467	в	8.39383587	0.09	0.9292
Species MYAU	15.77889928	в	8.16902091	1.93	0.0570
Species MYSE	-4.80443405	в	8.16902091	-0.59	0.5581
Species NYHU	24.99744985	в	8.37743151	2.98	0.0038
Species PESU	3.84615385	в	7.96407602	0.48	0.6305
Species UNKN	0.00000000	в			-

Table 12 ANOVA showing significance of time of night and individual bats detected

Mist Netting

Mist netting surveys were conducted year-round (when weather conditions permitted). Thirty-one mist netting surveys were completed from October 2015-May 2017, amounting to a total of 91 man-hours. A relatively low number of bats were captured during this time period (n = 28), and a total of seven species were identified through capture (Richness = 7) (Table 13). Biodiversity measures were calculated for the mist net data as they were for the MABM data. Simpson's Index of Diversity (0.7725) revealed moderately high diversity among the sample. Evenness (0.5490) of the sample was found to be moderate for the mist netting data.

Eastern Red Bat (25.29%) and Evening Bat (28.57%) were the two most abundant species, while all other species made up less than 33% of the sample. These species included Rafinesque's Big-eared Bat (10.71%), Big Brown Bat (7.14%), Seminole Bat (3.57%), Southeastern Myotis (7.14%), and Tri-colored Bat (3.57%). Two other bat species were captured in mist nets that were not recorded with the acoustic monitoring, these species were Rafinesque's Big-eared Bat and Seminole Bat. All bats captured were sexually mature adults. Thirteen females were captured, four of which were captured in July and lactating, while one was pregnant that was captured in May. Thirteen males were captured, four of which had descended testes, captured in August and September. Two bats captured were of unknown sex due to escape before processing. No bats captured exhibited signs of harboring *Pd* or lesions from WNS on the wing and tail patagia or muzzle when subjected to UV light screening.

Date	Species	Sex	Age	Forearm (mm)	Weight (g)	Ear (mm)	Thumb (mm)	Time
01-31-2016	LABO	Μ	Α	41.7	10	7.9	8.2	18:04:00
4/28/2016	LABO	F	Α	41	8.5	4.1	8.5	20:37:00
4/28/2016	LABO	Μ	Α	36.8	8.8	5	8.8	21:05:00
4/28/2016	LABO	Μ	Α	41.4	6.8	4.4	6.8	22:15:00
4/28/2016	LABO	F	Α	42	8.3	4.5	8.3	22:16:00
6/6/2016	MYAU	Μ	Α	36.5	7	7.7	7	21:30:00
6/6/2016	MYAU	F	Α	37.3	8	8.6	7.2	23:00:00
6/22/2016	NYHU	Μ	Α	NA	NA	NA	NA	21:45:00
7/7/2016	NYHU	NA	Α	NA	NA	NA	NA	23:03:00
7/15/2016	LABO	F	Α	41.8	14	9.9	7	20:45:00
7/15/2016	LABO	F	Α	42.1	11	10	8	21:45:00
7/15/2016	LABO	F	Α	40.9	16	9.4	6.6	22:28:00
7/15/2016	PESU	F	Α	39.2	6	11.9	7.6	22:54:00
7/15/2016	LABO	F	Α	40.8	13	9.1	7.2	23:27:00
8/26/2016	NYHU	Μ	Α	34	8.5	11	5.5	21:10:00
8/26/2016	LASE	F	Α	37.5	12.5	9	6.5	23:19:00
08/28/2016	NYHU	Μ	Α	35	10.5	10	5.5	21:05:00
08/28/2016	NYHU	Μ	Α	34.5	9.5	8.5	5	21:05:00
10/6/2016	CORA	Μ	Α	43.2	10	28.8	7	19:05:00
10/6/2016	EPFU	Μ	Α	47	23	10.05	6	20:10:00
10/28/2016	NYHU	F	Α	38.7	10	8.8	5.5	19:23:00
10/28/2016	NYHU	Μ	Α	37.3	12	7	5.9	19:23:00
11/17/2016	CORA	F	Α	44.7	11	29	6.7	18:12:00
11/17/2016	CORA	Μ	Α	42.2	11	23.4	7.1	18:12:00
5/7/2017	NYHU	Μ	Α	35.9	11	6.7	5.6	21:40:00
5/14/2017	LABO	F	Α	41.6	14	8.2	5.6	20:47:00
5/14/2017	EPFU	NA	Α	NA	NA	NA	NA	20:47:00
5/21/2017	LABO	F	Α	40.2	20	8.9	7.8	20:47:00

Table 13 Results of mist netting surveys

DISCUSSION

Mobile Acoustic Monitoring

Loeb et al. (2015). Said, "Mobile acoustic monitoring for bats has become an efficient way to collect relatively large samples across large spatial and temporal ranges, while taking into account a number of parameters." This study was able to successfully collect data year-round, including the winter months, to account for species on and around FNWR, annually. The three most abundant bat species recorded were the Evening Bat (n = 285), Tri-colored Bat (n = 265), and Eastern Red Bat (n = 196), which closely coincides with the Baker and Ward study's (1967) most abundant species. These species made up over 80% of the sample, which entailed a moderately high diversity of species (0.7654), although evenness (0.47186) of the sample was moderate. In contrast, Baker and Ward (1967) found the Big Brown Bat as one of the most abundant species, which was the fourth most abundant bat sampled (n = 73) in the present study. Eight of the eleven species found in southern Arkansas listed by Connier (2010), Baker and Ward (1967) and the Arkansas Game and Fish Commission were recorded from the MABM surveys. The only species that were not recorded were Seminole Bat, Rafinesque's Bigeared Bat, and Brazilian Free-tailed Bat. This was most likely due to the Anabat SD 2 unit's settings that would classify false-positive recordings of bat species or the frequency of these bat species' calls were outside the unit's range. Reid (2006) and Harvey et al. (2011) said that bats like Rafinesque's Big-eared Bat and Southeastern Myotis typically forage over water, in swampy areas. The transects of the MABM surveys crossed very

few of these ecosystems, which may have been the cause for such low occurrence of one or both of these species. Unknown species were species captured but not classified to a species or group by the BCID software. These unknown species could have had an altered echolocation call due to ambient noise recorded, or a filter for a different species may not have been activated while processing echolocation calls.

Seasonal abundance varied by species, but the trend was consistent for each species. Bat activity appeared to be highest during the summer months (n = 369) of June through August, which is extremely common because of high ambient temperatures and rearing of young is occurring, as found by Trani et al. (2007). Bat activity did occur during the fall and winter months (n = 397) when temperatures were greater than 10°C, although activity and number of species decreased significantly. There was not a significant relationship between individual species and their seasonal foraging patterns. Most species shared the same activity patterns, annually.

Moon phase played a significant role in the activity of bats. The distribution of bats was evenly spread between moon phases, but a full moon appeared to be a time of little bat activity (n = 17) which coincides with Ethier and Fahrig's (2011) study which found bat activity was minimal when the moon was full. This study revealed bat activity was highest when the moon was at a half moon phase or below, which accounted for nearly 84% of the sample.

Habitat selection of all species from MABM surveys approached significance (p = 0.056). Bats varied across habitat types, the most common being the upland pine forests (n = 318). The Big Brown Bat seemed to prefer upland pine forests (n = 39) over all other habitat types (p < 0.001), which is consistent with Brooks and Ford (2005). Other

species like the Eastern Red Bat, Hoary Bat, Evening Bat, and Tri-colored Bat were spread fairly evenly across bottomland hardwood, upland pine, and open field/edge habitats. Cypress-tupelo bottoms and open fields / edge habitats most likely yielded relatively low numbers of bats because the MABM transects did not coincide or cover a significant amount of these habitats. There were no species that were exclusively found in one type of habitat that was significant.

Passive Acoustic Monitoring

PAM has become an efficient method to capture species occurrence across different landscapes for longer periods of data collection (Coleman et al. 2014). This study utilized PAM as another means to determine habitat selection of bats, and the times they are utilizing their habitats to forage. The results for species occurrence were similar to the MABM surveys. Evening Bat (n = 411), Tri-colored Bat (n = 153), and Eastern Red Bat were three of the most common species, but Southeastern Myotis (n = 307) was the second most common. Most Southeastern Myotis were recorded over the span of a few nights in November, and thereafter were very uncommon. The Big Brown Bat seemed exclusive to upland pine habitats, as also highlighted in the MABM data. Distribution of individuals among species was not significant because capture rates were skewed. Species to habitat type was not a significant model. But, individual species were run by habitat type, and this proved to have significance. Upland pine forests most commonly harbored the Big Brown Bat, Eastern Red Bat, Evening Bat, Tri-colored Bat, and the Hoary Bat (p < 0.001). This coincided with our MABM data. Cypress-tupelo bottom habitats showed significance among Southeastern Myotis most of all, which is concurrent with Carver and Ashley (2008). Barclay (1985) found Silver-haired Bats were

habitat generalists that utilized a variety of habitats because of their migratory behavior. This study mirrored Barclay (1985) in finding Silver-haired Bats spread evenly across the three habitat types of FNWR. A significant portion of PAM coincided with the MABM in terms of habitat selection and occurrence of bats.

Bat activity by time proved to be significant. Activity peaked at the beginning hours of darkness and slowly declined in the following hours, except for a slight increase during the early morning hours. There was no relationship between species of bat and specific activity hours, except Southeastern Myotis and Evening Bat which showed to have highest activity during the beginning hours of the night. Trends stayed static for all species among hours of the night.

Mist Netting

Although mist netting capture yielded a low total capture, seven out of the eleven listed species found in southern Arkansas by Connier (2010), Baker and Ward (1967) and the Arkansas Game and Fish Commission were captured. Two of the species captured, Rafinesque's Big-eared Bat and Seminole Bat, were captured exclusively by mist net and not by acoustic monitoring, which increased inventory. Richness and evenness measures were similar between mist netting data and MABM data.

Bergallo et al. (2003) suggested having a sample size of n = 1000 from mist netting to have a representative sample of the population. This study failed to reach that number, but mist netting in combination with acoustic results may have given a more representative sample of the ecosystem. Most bats were captured within the first hour of surveying time. No signs of *Pd* or WNS were found on any bats that were captured and processed. Few bats contained parasitic mites, which is common among many species.

Management Implications

Ten out of the eleven bat species listed by Connier (2010), Baker and Ward (1967) and the Arkansas Game and Fish Commission were captured acoustically or physically during this study. The most abundant species were ones listed as "least concern" by the International Union for Conservation of Nature, and they were not listed under the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service's Threatened and Endangered list. These species include the Big Brown Bat, Silver-haired Bat, Eastern Red Bat, Evening Bat, and the Tricolored Bat. The Seminole Bat, the Hoary Bat, and Rafinesque's Big-eared Bat were captured, but they were not common in the sample. These species are either listed as "vulnerable" in the state of Arkansas or of "special concern" under the USFWS Threatened and Endangered list. Long-term I & M surveys have been occurring throughout the Southeastern United States since 2010 and will continue into the future by the USFWS Region 4 I & M Office. Long-term monitoring is the best way to view population and occurrence trends over time, while also monitoring rare species that are at-risk.

Habitat conservation on FNWR should also be a priority due to species that are atrisk because of habitat degradation like Rafinesque's Big-eared Bat and Southeastern Myotis. Mature upland pine stands on the refuge are burned to promote habitat for the Red-cockaded Woodpecker. These burn cycles seem to have little effect on bat activity, long-term, and seem to promote foraging of bats in these areas because of open midstory. Although BLH forest and CTB habitats did not produce a majority of bat calls, these habitats are still important for roosting sites and production of nocturnal insects on which bats forage.

Although signs of *Pd* or WNS were not found on bats captured upon the refuge, measures should be taken to closely monitor for the fungus and disease. The refuge harbors culverts that could potentially provide hospitable conditions in which the fungus could thrive and infect bats that are roosting within them.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the four objectives presented at the beginning of this document were addressed by the researcher. First, an inventory of bats at Felsenthal NWR was generated as a result of sampling over the course of 20 months, while utilizing several sampling methods. Ten out of eleven species were captured that have been found historically in southern Arkansas. Second, seasonal abundance and biodiversity of bats on and around the refuge was measured by sampling year-round. Biodiversity measures showed moderate evenness and moderately-high diversity of the sample. Bats were most abundant during the warmer months of the year. Third, habitat preference and utilization was examined while using acoustic monitoring. Bats on and around the refuge appeared to be distributed across all habitat types, and one species was not exclusive to one habitat type. Lastly, no signs of Pd or WNS were not found on any bats captured by mist net.

LITERATURE CITED

- Adams AM, Jantzen MK, Hamilton RM, Fenton BM. 2012. Do You Hear What I Hear? Implications of Detector Selection for Acoustic Monitoring of Bats. Methods in Ecology and Evolution. 3:992-998.
- Anderson DR. 2001. The Need to Get the Basics Right in Wildlife Field Studies. The Wildlife Society Bulletin. 29(4):1294-1297.
- Agosta SJ. 2002. Habitat Use, Diet, and Roost Selection by Big Brown Bat (*Eptesicus fuscus*) in North America: A Case for Conserving an Abundant Species. Mammal Review; [accessed 2017 May 17]. 32(3):179-198. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1046/j.1365-2907.2002.00103.x/full.
- Arlettaz R, Perrin N, Hausser J. 1997. Trophic Resource Partitioning and Competition Between the Two Sibling Bat Species *Myotis myotis* and *Myotis blythii*. Journal of Animal Ecology. 66(6):897-911.
- Barclay RMR. 1985. Long- Versus Short-Range Foraging Strategies of Hoary (*Lasiurus cinereus*) and Silver-Haired (*Lasionycteris noctivagans*) Bats and The Consequences for Prey Selection. Canadian Journal of Zoology. 63(11):2507-2515.
- Baker RJ, Ward CM. 1967 Distribution of Bats in Southeastern Arkansas. Journal of Mammalogy. 48:130-132.
- Bat Conservation International. 2014 July 18. White-Nose Syndrome: A Crisis for America's Bats. Bat Conservation International News Release.
- Blehert DS, Hicks AC, Behr M, Meteyer CU, Berlowski-Zier BM, Buckles EL, Coleman JTH, Darling SR, Gargas A, Niver R, Okoniewski JC, Rudd RJ, Stone WB. 2008.
 Bat White-Nose Syndrome: An Emerging Fungal Pathogen? Science Express; [accessed 2017 January 28].
 <u>https://www.whitenosesyndrome.org/sites/default/files/resource/blehert_et_al_20</u>08_wns_fungus_total.pdf
- Bergallo HG, Esberard CEL, Mello MAR, Lins V. 2003. Bat Species Richness in Atlantic Forest: What is the Minimum Sampling Effort? Biotropica. 35(2):278-288.
- Boyles JG, Cryan PM, McCracken GF, Kunz TH. 2011. Economic Importance of Bats in Agriculture. Science. 332:41-42.

- Brigham RM. 2007. Bats in Forests: What We Know and What We Need to Learn. Pp. 1-15. In M. J. Lacki, J.P. Hayes, and A. Kurta (Eds.). Bats in Forests: Conservation and Management. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, MD. 368 p.
- Brooks RT, Ford MW. 2005. Bat Activity in a Forest Landscape of Central Massachusetts. Northeastern Naturalist. 12(4):447-462.
- Carver BD, Ashley N. 2008. Roost Tree Use by Sympatric Rafinesque's Big-Eared Bats (*Corynorhinus rafinesquii*) and Southeastern Myotis (*Myotis austroriparius*). American Midland Naturalist; [accessed 2017 May 13]. 160: 364-373. <u>http://www.bioone.org/doi/abs/10.1656/058.013.s515</u>.
- Coleman LS, Ford MW, Dobony CA, Britzke ER. 2014. A Comparison of Passive and Active Acoustic Sampling for a Bat Community Impacted by White-Nose Syndrome. Journal of Fish and Wildlife Management. 5(2):217-226.
- Connior MB. 2010. Annotated Checklist of the Recent Wild Mammals of Arkansas. Museum of Texas Tech University. Number 293.
- Connor RN, Dickson JG. 1997. Relationship Between Bird Communities and Forest Age, Structure, Species Composition and Fragmentation in the West Gulf Coastal Plain. The Texas Journal of Science. 49(3):123-138.
- Ethier K, Fahrig L. 2011. Positive Effects of Forest Fragmentation, Independent of Forest Amount, on Bat Abundance in Eastern Ontario, Canada. Landscape Ecology. 26:865-876.
- Everette AL, O'Shea TJ, Ellison LE, Stone LA, McCance JL, McCance S. 2001. Bat Use of a High-Plains Urban Wildlife Refuge. The Wildlife Society Bulletin; [accessed 2017 May 14]. 29(3):967-973. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/3784424?seq=1#fndtn-page_scan_tab_contents</u>.
- Fancy SG, Gross JE, Carter SL. 2009. Monitoring the Condition of Natural Resources in the U.S. National Parks. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment. 151:161-174.
- Fenton BM, Tennant DC, Wyszecki J. 1987. Using Echolocation Calls to Measure the Distribution of Bats: The Care of *Euderma maculatum*. Journal of Mammalogy. 68(1):142-144.
- Fenton BM. 1992. Bats (Revised Edition). 2nd ed. Checkmark Books, New York, NY. 224 p.
- Fenton BM. 2012. Bats and White-nose Syndrome. PNAS; [accessed 2017 January 22]. 109(18):6794-6795. <u>www.pnas.org/cgi/doi/10.1073/pnas.1204793109</u>.

- Findley JS. 1993. Bats: A Community Perspective. Cambridge University Press. New York City, New York. 148 p.
- Flaquer C, Torre I, Arrizabalaga A. 2007. Comparison of Sampling Methods for Inventory of Bat Communities. Journal of Mammalogy. 88(2):526-533.
- Ford WM, Menzel MA, Rodrigue JL, Menzel JM, Johnson JB. 2005. Relating Bat Species Presence to Simple Habitat Measures in a Central Appalachian Forest. Biological Conservation. 126:528-539.
- Ford WM, Menzel JM, Menzel MA, Edwards JW, Kilgo JC. 2006. Presence and Absence of Bats Across Habitat Scales in the Upper Coastal Plain of South Carolina. The Journal of Wildlife Management. 70(5):1200-1209.
- Frick WF. 2013. Acoustic Monitoring of Bats, Considerations of Options for Long-Term Monitoring. Therya. 4(1):69-78.
- Froidevaux JSP, Zellweger F, Bollmann K, Obrist M. 2014. Optimizing Passive Acoustic Sampling of Bats in Forests. Ecology and Evolution. 4(24):4690-4700.
- Froschauer A, Coleman J. 2012 January 17. North American Bat Death Toll Exceeds 5.5 Million from White-nose Syndrome. U.S. Fish and Wildlife News Release.
- Furey NM, Mackie IJ, Racey PA. 2009. The Role of Ultrasonic Bat Detectors in Improving Inventory and Monitoring Surveys in Vietnamese Karst Bat Assemblages. Current Zoology. 55(5):327-341.
- Gardner JE, Garner JD, Hofmann JE. 1989. A Portable Mist-Netting System for Capturing Bats with Emphasis on *Myotis sodalis* (Indiana bat). Bat Research News. 30:1-8.
- Gukasova A, Vlaschenko A. 2011. Effectiveness of Mist-Netting of Bats (Chiroptera, Mammalia) During the Non-Hibernation Period in Oak Forests of Eastern Ukraine. Acta Zoologica Cracoviensia. 54A(1-2):77-93.
- Harvey MJ, Altenbach SJ, Best TL. 2011. Bats of the United States and Canada. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore, MD. 202 p.
- Hill DA, Greenway F. 2005. Effectiveness of an Acoustic Lure for Surveying Bats in British Woodlands. Mammal Review, 35(1):116-122.

- Hutson AM, Mickleburgh SP, Racey PA. 2001. Microchiropteran Bats: Global Status Survey and Conservation Action Plan. International Union for the Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources/Species Survival Commission, Chiroptera Specialist Group. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland; [accessed 2017 May 1]. <u>http://www.bioone.org/action/showPopup?citid=citart1&id=i1545-1542-87-6-</u> 1145-Hutson1&doi=10.1644%2F06-MAMM-A-085R2.1.
- Jones C, McShea WJ, Conroy MJ, Kunz TJ. 1996. Capturing Mammals. Pp. 115-155. Measuring and Monitoring Biological Diversity, Standard Methods for Mammals. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, DC 409 p.
- Jones KE, Russ JA, Bashta AT, Bilharis Z, Catto C, Csosz I, Gorbachev A, Gyorf P, Hughes A, Ivashkiv I, Koryagina N, Kurali A, Langston S, Collen A, Margiean G, Pandourski I, Parsons S, Prokofev, Szodoray-Paradi A, Szodoray-Paradi F, Tilova E, Walters CL, Weatherill A, Zavarzin O. 2013. Biodiversity Monitoring and Conservation: Bridging the Gap Between Global Commitment and Local Action. John Wiley and Sons, Ltd. Hoboken, NJ. 214 p.
- Kuenzi TS, Morrison ML. 1998. Detection of Bats by Mist-nets and Ultrasonic Sensors. Wildlife Society Bulletin; [accessed 2017 May 13]. 26:307-311.
- Kunz TH. 1973. Resource Utilization: Temporal and Spatial Components of Bat Activity in Central Iowa. Journal of Mammalogy. 54(1):14-32.
- Kunz TH, Brock CE. 1975. A Comparison of Mist Nets and Ultrasonic Detectors for Monitoring Flight Activity of Bats. Journal of Mammalogy. 56(4):907-911.
- Kunz TH, Kurta A. 1988. Capture Methods and Holding Devices. Pp. 1-29. Ecological and Behavioral Methods for the Study of Bats. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C. 533p.
- Linzey D. 2001. Vertebrate Biology. McGraw-Hill, New York City, NY. 530 p.
- Loeb SC, Rodhouse TJ, Ellison LE, Lausen CL, Reichard JD, Irvine KM, Ingersoll TE, Coleman JTH, Thogmartin WE, Sauer JR, Francis CM, Bayless ML, Stanley TR, Johnson DH. 2015. A Plan for the North American Bat Monitoring Program (NABat) Gen. Tech. Rep. SRS-208. U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service, Southern Research Station. Asheville, NC. 100 p.
- MacSwiney MCG, Clarke FM, Racey PA. 2008. What You See is Not What You Get: The Role of Ultrasonic Detectors in Increasing Inventory completeness in Neotropical Bat Assemblages. Journal of Applied Ecology. 45(5):1364-1371.
- Magurran AE. 2004. Measuring Biological Diversity. Current Biology; [accessed 2017 May 9]. 15(4):116-118. http://ac.els-cdn.com/S0960982205001442/1.

- McPeake R, Sasse B, Saugey DA. 2012. Bats in and Around Your Home. University of Arkansas Division of Agriculture Cooperative Extension Service; [accessed 2017 January 31]. <u>www.agfc.com/species/Documents/bats-inandaround.pdf</u>.
- Menzel JM, Menzel MA, Kilgo JC, Ford MW, Edwards JW, McCracken GF. 2005. Effect of Habitat and Foraging Height on Bat Activity in the Coastal Plain of South Carolina. Journal of Wildlife Management. 69(1):235-245.
- Meteyer CU, Buckles EL, Blehert DS, Hicks AC, Green ED, Shearn-Bochsler V, Thomas NJ, Gargas A, Behr MJ. 2009. Histopathologic Criteria to Confirm White-nose Syndrome in Bats. J Vet Diagn Invest. 21:411-414.
- Meyer CFJ, Aguiar LMS, Aguirre LF, Baumgarten J, Clarke FM, Cosson JF, Villegas SE, Fahr J, Faria D, Furey N, Henry M, Hodgkison R, Jenkins RKB, Jung KG, Kingston T, Kunz TH, Gonzalez CMM, Moya I, Pons JM, Raceym PA, Rex K, Sampaio EM, Stoner KE, Voigt CC, Von Staden D, Weise CD, Kalko EKV. 2010. Long-Term Monitoring of Tropical Bats for Anthropogenic Impact Assessment: Gauging the Statistical Power to Detect Population Change. Biological Conservation. 143:2797-2807.
- Miller BW. 2001. A Method for Determining Relative Activity of Free Flying Bats Using a New Activity Index for Acoustic Monitoring. Acta Chiropterlogica. 3(1):93-105.
- Minnis AM, Lindner DL. 2013. Phylogenetic Evaluation of *Geomyces* and Allies Reveals no Close Relatives of *Pseudogymnoascus destructans*, Comb. November, in Bat Hibernacula of Eastern North America. Fungal Biology. 117:638-649.
- Moreno CE, Halffter G. 2000. Assessing the Completeness of Bat Biodiversity Inventories Using Species Accumulation Curves. Journal of Applied Ecology. 37:149-158.
- Morrison ML, Block WM, Strickland MD, Collier BA, Peterson MJ. 2008. Inventory and Monitoring Studies. In: Wildlife Study Design; [accessed 2017 May 6]. Springer. New York, NY. p. 267-312. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/2845487?seq=1#fndtn-page_scan_tab_contents.</u>
- Noss RF, Platt WJ, Sorrie BA, Weakley AS, Means BD, Costanza J, Peet RJ. 2015. How Global Diversity Hotspots May go Unrecognized: Lessons from the North American Coastal Plain. Diversity and Distributions. 21:236-244.
- O'Farrel MJ, Gannon WL. 2001. A Comparison of Acoustic Versus Capture Techniques for the Inventory of Bats. Journal of Mammalogy. 80(1):24-30.
- O'Shea TJ, Bogan MA. eds., 2003, Monitoring Trends in Bat Populations of the United States and Territories: Problems and Prospects: U.S. Geological Survey, Biological Resources Discipline, Information and Technology Report, USGS/BRD/ITR. 274 p.
- Palmqvist B. 2014. Measurement of Abundance and Activity of the Northern Bat *Eptesicus nilssonii*, in Forests and Edge Habitats in Sweden-Tools for Conservation Planning. Uppsala University Print.
- Patterson BD, Willig MR, Stevens RD. 2003. Trophic Strategies, Niche Partitioning, and Patterns of Ecological Organization. In: Kunz TH, Fenton MB, eds. Bat ecology. The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL. pp 536–579.
- Pierson ED, Rainey WE. 1998. Distribution of the Spotted Bat, *Euderma maculatum*, in California. Journal of Mammalogy. 79(4):1296-1305.
- Reid FA. 2006. Mammals of North America. 4th ed. Houghton Mifflin Company, New York, NY. 579 p.
- Reynolds HT, Barton HA. 2014. Comparison of the White-Nose Syndrome Agent (*Pseudogymnoascus destructans*) to Cave-Dwelling Relatives Suggests Reduced Saprotrophic Enzyme Activity. Plos One; [accessed 2017 January 21]. 9(1): e86437. http://journals.plos.org/plosone/article?id=10.1371/journal.pone.0086437.
- Russell RE, Thogmartin WE, Erickson RA, Szymanski J, Tinsley K. 2015. Estimating the Short-Term Recovery Potential of Little Brown Bats in the Eastern United States in the Face of White-Nose Syndrome. Ecological Modeling. 314:111-117.
- Schwarz CJ, Seber GA. 1999. Estimating Animal Abundance: Review III. Statistical Science; [accessed 2017 May 7]. 14(4):427-456. <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/2676809</u>.
- Seidman VM, Zabel CJ. 2001. Bat Activity Along Intermittent Streams in Northwestern California. Journal of Mammalogy. 82(3):738-747.
- Sikes RS. Bryan JA, Byman D, Danielson BJ, Eggleston J, Gannon MR, Gannon WL, Hale DW, Jesmer BR, Odell DK, Olson LE, Stevens RD, Thompson TA, Timm RM, Trewhitt SA, Willoughby JR. 2016. 2016 Guidelines of the American Society of Mammalogists for the Use of Wild Mammals in Research and Education. Journal of Mammalogy. 97(3):663-688.
- Simmons NB, Conway TM. 2003. Evolution of Ecological Diversity in Bats. 493–535. In Kunz TH, Fenton MB, eds. Bat Ecology. Chicago University of Chicago Press.

- Stroud HB, Hanson GT. 1981. Arkansas Geography: The Physical Landscape and the Historical Cultural Setting. Little Rock, AR. Rose Publishing Company.
- The Nature Conservancy. 2003. The West Gulf Coastal Plain Ecoregional Conservation Plan. West Gulf Coastal Plain Ecoregional Planning Team. The Nature Conservancy. San Antonio, TX.
- Trani MK, Ford MW, Chapman BR. 2007. The Land Manager's Guide to Mammals of the South. The Nature Conservancy, Southeastern Region, Durham, NC. 546 p.
- Trevelin LC, Novaes RLM, Colas-Rosas PF, Benathar TCL, Peres CA. 2017. Enhancing Sampling Design in Mist-net Bat Surveys by Accounting for Sample Size Optimization. Plos One; [accessed 2017 May 13]. 12(3): e0174067. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174067.</u>
- Trousdale AW. 2011. Ecology of Tree-roosting Rafinesque's Big-Eared Bats in the Eastern United States. Pages 27-38 in Loeb, S.C., M.J. Lacki, and D.A. Miller (eds.), Conservation and Management of Eastern Big-eared bats: A Symposium. USDA, Forest Service, Southern Research Station, GTR SRS-145. Asheville, North Carolina.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2009. Gulf Coastal Plains and Ozarks Landscape Conservation Cooperative Development and Operations Plan. U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service; [accessed 2016 July 16]. https://www.fws.gov/science/shc/pdf/GulfCoastalPlainsOzarks.pdf.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2010. Felsenthal and Overflow National Wildlife Refuges. Comprehensive Conservation Plan and Environmental Assessment. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service; [accessed 2016 May 16]. <u>https://catalog.data.gov/dataset/felsenthal-and-overflow-national-wildlife-refugescomprehensive-conservation-plan.</u>
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2012. Mobile Bat Acoustic Survey Protocol U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Region 4 Division of Refuges. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service; [accessed 2016 July May 16]. <u>file:///C:/Users/User/Downloads/Mobile_Bat_Acoustical_Survey_Protocol_R4v4</u> <u>%20(2).pdf</u>.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2016. National White-Nose Syndrome Decontamination Protocol. White-Nose Syndrome. [accessed 2016 July 6]. <u>https://www.whitenosesyndrome.org/resource/national-white-nose-syndrome-decontamination-protocol-april-2016.</u>
- Verant ML, Meteyer CU, Speakman JR, Cryan PM, Lorch JM, Blehert DS. 2014. White-Nose Syndrome Initiates a Cascade of Physiologic Disturbances in the Hibernating Bat Roost. BMC Physiology. 14(10):11.

- Walsh AL, Harris S. 1996. Foraging Habitat Preferences of Vespertilionid Bats in Britain. Journal of Applied Ecology; [accessed 2017 May 9]. 33(3):508-518. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2404980?seq=1#page_scan_tab_contents.
- Weller TJ. 2008. Using Occupancy Estimation to Assess the Effectiveness of a Regional Multiple-Species Conservation Plan: Bats in the Pacific Northwest. Biological Conservation. 141:2279-2289.
- Whitaker JO. 1988. Food Habits Analysis of Insectivorous Bats. 171-189. In. Kunz TH (ed.). Ecological and Behavioral Methods for the Study of Bats. Smithsonian Inst. Press, Washington, D.C.
- Whitby MD, Carter TC, Britzke ER, Bergeson SM. 2014. Evaluation of Mobile Acoustic Techniques for Bat Population Monitoring. Acta Chiropterologica. 16(1):223-230.
- Williams JA, O'Farrell MJ, Riddle BR. 2006. Habitat Use by Bats in a Riparian Corridor of the Mojave Desert in Southern Nevada. Journal of Mammalogy. 87(6):1145-1153.
- Wright DH. 1991. Correlations between Incidence and Abundance are Expected by Chance. Journal of Biogeography. 18(4):463-466.

VITA

Tyler Joseph Porter, son of Byron and Vickie Porter, was born in Visalia, California, on July 30, 1990. He was raised in Dubuque, Iowa from the age on nine months old until the age of 25, and he graduated from Hempstead Senior High School in May of 2009. He received a Bachelor of Science Degree in Environmental Science from the University of Dubuque in December of 2013. In the August 2015, he began his graduate studies while starting field work in October of the same year. He is a current employee of the United States Fish and Wildlife Service at Felsenthal National Wildlife Refuge, and he will graduate in August 2017 from the University of Louisiana at Monroe with a Master of Science Degree in Biology with a concentration in Ecology and Evolution. After graduating, he plans to pursue his dream of becoming a professional wildlife biologist.